13722.2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FILED OCT 1 8 2016

WASHINGTON STATE

SUPREME COURT

No. 72824-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JENNIFER B. DONNELLY, as Guardian for MARSHALL S. DONNELLY; JENNIFER B. DONNELLY; and KEITH KESSLER, as Guardian ad Litem for LINLEY GRACE DONNELLY, a minor child,

Petitioners.

v.

HDR ARCHITECTURE, INC., TURNER CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, a foreign corporation, NOISE CONTROL OF WASHINGTON, INC., a Washington Corporation; JANE and JOHN DOES, 1-20

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SWANSON GARDNER MEYERS, PLLC

By: Todd W. Gardner WSBA No. 11034 Peter E. Meyers WSBA No. 23438

A. Identity of Petitioner.

The Petitioners, Jennifer Donnelly, personally and as guardian for Marshall Donnelly, and Keith Kessler as guardian ad litem for Linley Grace Donnelly, were appellants in the Court of Appeals and plaintiffs in superior court. They ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision identified below.

B. Court of Appeals Decision.

The Court of Appeals issued its decision terminating review on August 8, 2016 (App. A), and denied petitioners' timely motion to publish by order dated September 16, 2016 (App. B).

C. Issues Presented for Review.

1. This Court rejected the "completion and acceptance" doctrine in *Davis v. Baugh Industrial Contractors, Inc.*, 159 Wn.2d 413, 150 P.3d 545 (2007), holding that a contractor that negligently designs and constructs improvements to real property may be liable in tort to those who suffer foreseeable injuries, irrespective of the owner's acceptance of the contractor's completed work. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that this principle is inapplicable to a claim alleging a contractor's negligent failure to warn of a building's hazards, on the grounds that *Davis* is limited to "physical limitations"

on a landowner's ability to meaningfully inspect modern-day constructed facilities"? (Op. 9)

2. The terms of a contract between a contractor and a building owner are pertinent to the general contractor's duty in tort to a third party. *Kelley v. Howard S. Wright Construction Co.*, 90 Wn.2d 323, 582 P.2d 500 (1978); *Donatelli v. D.R. Strong Consulting Eng'rs, Inc.*, 179 Wn.2d 84, 93, 312 P.3d 620 (2013). Did the Court of Appeals err in approving the trial court's instruction that the jury in this negligence case could "not consider whether the contract was breached in considering whether the defendants were negligent"? (Op. 13)

D. Statement of the Case.

Journeyman electrician Marshall Donnelly suffered severe and permanently disabling brain injuries when he fell through a metal security ceiling while performing work assigned him by his employer, the State of Washington, at its newly-constructed building at the Washington State Penitentiary (WSP) in Walla Walla. Donnelly and the WSP were unaware that this heavy-duty metal security ceiling was not designed to hold the weight of a person and was a latent hazard; WSP maintenance employees, including electricians, had regularly walked on prison security ceilings to perform their work prior to construction of the new prison building. (RP 455) Donnelly sued the general contractor responsible for constructing the building, HDR/Turner, and subcontractor Noise Control, which installed the ceiling, for negligence. The defendants were made aware, in writing, of this hazard and the fact that walking on the metal security ceilings would void all warranties, midway through construction, three years before Mr. Donnelly was injured. (Ex. 38; RP 2374-75) They had provided this information to their subcontractors, so that their employees were not put at risk by walking on the metal security ceilings, but failed to inform the project owner WSP. (RP 856, 2375, 2455-56)

Defendants were required under their contract to provide any information that could affect a product warranty to WSP in the Operation and Maintenance (O&M) Manual, one of the contract documents. (Exs. 204, 240; RP 650-53, 697-98, 2460-61) Donnelly claimed that defendants had breached the standard of care for design/build contractors by failing to provide in the O&M Manual the notifications defendants had received from the ceiling manufacturer, advising that the ceiling could not be walked on, and that walking on the ceiling would "void all warranties." (Ex. 38)

At trial, the jury heard extensive expert testimony, from both plaintiff and defense experts, that the O&M Manual, as part of the

3

contract, established defendants' standard of care toward third parties such as Donnelly. (RP 2107-08, 2458-59, 2589) Defendant HDR/Turner's lead architect testified that the O&M Manual was intended to include all the information WSP needed concerning what to do – and what not to do – in the building. (RP 2460-61) The jury also heard evidence that WSP would not have allowed individuals to walk on the security ceiling had it been aware of the warranty restrictions – just as the defendants had informed their subcontractors and employees. (RP 860, 934-35, 1022-25)

Over plaintiffs' objections, however, the case was submitted to the jury with Instruction No. 14, which told the jury that it could "not consider whether the contract was breached in considering whether the defendants were negligent":

You have heard testimony about the language in the contract relating to maintenance and warranty information. You are instructed that there are no breach of contract claims against the defendants in this case, and you may not consider whether the contract was breached in considering whether the defendants were negligent. This evidence may be considered on the issue of causation.

(CP 8905) The jury returned a defense verdict, never reaching the issue of causation after finding none of the defendants negligent. (CP 8885) The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that Instruction No. 14 was "no misstatement of the law." (Op. 6) The Court of Appeals recognized that this Court has held that "a builder or construction contractor is liable for injury or damage to a third person as a result of negligent work, even after completion and acceptance of that work, when it was reasonably foreseeable a third person would be injured due to that negligence." (Op. 8, quoting *Davis v. Baugh Industrial Contractors, Inc.*, 159 Wn.2d 413, 417, 150 P.3d 545 (2007) (footnote citation omitted)). Division One reasoned, however, that "an alleged failure to fulfill an administrative contractual obligation to include warranty information in an O&M Manual is not negligent work under *Davis* as though akin to a latent physical defect" (Op. 9) and that Donnelly failed to provide "authority that one may argue breach of contract in a negligence tort case." (Op. 11)

E. Argument Why Review Should Be Granted.

1. The Court of Appeals erroneously limited a contractor's tort liability to third parties to latent physical defects.

This Court held in *Davis* that "a builder or construction contractor is liable for injury or damage to a third person as a result of negligent work, even after completion and acceptance of that work, when it was reasonably foreseeable a third person would be injured due to that negligence." *Davis v. Baugh Industrial* Contractors, Inc., 159 Wn.2d 413, 417, ¶ 6, 150 P.3d 545 (2007) (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts, §§ 385, 394, 396 (1969)); see also Jackson v. City of Seattle, 158 Wn. App. 647, 655-57, ¶¶ 17-19, 244 P.3d 425 (2010) (contractor that installed waterline on steep slope may be liable to subsequent owner in tort for landslide damages). By holding that a contractor's tort duty is limited to cases involving "latent physical defects," the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Davis, RAP 13.4(b)(1), and raises an issue of substantial public concern that this Court should address. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This Court in *Davis* unequivocally extended contractor tort liability to third persons after project completion, rejecting the historical limitation that "after completion and acceptance, the risk of liability for the project belonged solely to the property owner." *Davis*, 159 Wn. 2d at 417, ¶ 6. The Court jettisoned the "completion and acceptance" limitation as grounded in the antiquated requirement of privity of contract, and inconsistent with a century of common law tort jurisprudence. *Davis*, 159 Wn.2d at 418, ¶ 7, citing *MacPherson v. Buick Motor Co.*, 217 N.Y. 382, 397, 111 N.E. 1050 (1916) (Cardozo, J.). The Court also relied on the risk allocation principles underlying tort law, reasoning that as between the owner and the builder, the builder has the greater expertise to recognize and remedy deficiencies in "highly scientific and complex" construction projects, because "[1]andowners increasingly hire contractors for their expertise and a nonexpert landowner is often incapable of recognizing substandard performance." *Davis*, 159 Wn.2d at 419, ¶ 9.

In holding that a contractor is liable to third parties for reasonably foreseeable risks created by the contractor's performance in a construction contract, the *Davis* Court did not limit those risks to "latent physical defects," as the Court of Appeals claims. (Op. 9) Nor did this Court base its holding on "the physical limitations on a landowner's ability to meaningfully inspect modern-day constructed facilities," as the Court of Appeals reasoned in rejecting *Davis*' application to the negligent failure to disclose latent hazards alleged by plaintiff here. (Op. 9)

In any event, the building owner in this case, WSP, did not and could not know that it was unsafe to allow its employees to walk on the heavy-duty, metal "Lockdown" security ceilings while working on the building and that it would void all of the ceiling manufacturer's warranties – information that defendants obtained during construction. This is exactly the type of latent hazard, and the type of information, that a building owner requires, and that was the very basis of the *Davis* decision recognizing the tort liability of a general contractor to third parties after completion and acceptance by the building owner. The complexity of modern buildings and the fact that building owners "increasingly hire contractors for their expertise," *Davis*, 159 Wn.2d at 419, ¶ 9, highlights the need for the general contractor to provide information to the building owner about potential safety hazards created by the contractor's selection of a particular product. In this case, for instance, WSP had no other means of becoming aware of the latent hazard created by this security ceiling without being informed by the general contractor who selected the product, defendant HDR/Turner.¹

Further, the manner in which the Court of Appeals has narrowed *Davis* effectively eliminates almost all claims against the general contractor in cases, like this one, in which the court rules that there is no responsibility on the part of the general contractor for the acts or failures to act of its subcontractors. (RP 1565) General

¹ This Court correctly recognized that the 6-year statute of repose, RCW 4.16.310 "is a much clearer and simpler way to protect contractors" in *Davis* v. *Baugh Industrial Contractors, Inc.*, 159 Wn.2d 413, 419, ¶ 11, 150 P.3d 545 (2007). The Court of Appeals' imposition of a common law limitation of a contractor's tort liability to "latent physical defects" is doubly unjust because it is not necessary to "provide predictability and limit contractor liability," while "weaken[ing] the deterrent effect of tort law on negligent builders." *Davis*, 159 Wn.2d at 419, ¶¶ 11-12.

contractors generally do not physically build anything. They are responsible for managing the project, hiring the subcontractors, and communicating with the building owner. Limiting liability to "latent physical defects" effectively means that only subcontractors that performed the physical work could be held responsible – not the general contractor who designed the building, selected the building products, and is obliged to provide information about product limitations to the owner.

The Court of Appeals' limitations on the liability of contractors for their negligence in failing to disclose an unsafe condition conflicts with this Court's decision in Davis and with Division One's decision in Jackson v. City of Seattle, 158 Wn. App. 647, 657, ¶ 20, 244 P.3d 425 (2010), which recognized that Davis expanded potential tort liability for a contractor that had installed a water line on a steep slope for the previous owner even if "the new waterline remained intact and functioned as promised." RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). The Court of Appeals decision here presents an issue of substantial public concern that should be decided by this Court, because lawsuits alleging the negligence of design and construction professionals are relatively common. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Those professionals, those injured as a result of improvements to real

property, the lawyers who advise them, and the judges and juries who adjudicate these cases should be given clear guidance that tort law will provide a remedy to those injured by foreseeable risks arising from the construction of real property.

2. The Court of Appeals erred in holding that the jury was correctly instructed that a defendant's breach of duties and obligations imposed by the terms of a contract could not be considered in deciding negligence.

The Court of Appeals decision in this case erects an impenetrable wall between contract and tort – a barrier that this Court has repeatedly rejected. The Court of Appeals erred in expressly rejecting the notion "that one may argue breach of contract in a negligence case." (Op. 11) While every breach of contract is not a tort, contractual terms often provide the standard of care that a party owes to third parties, particularly in performing labor or providing services that will expose third parties to risks. See Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 342A (1969) (defendant who "undertakes . . . to render services to another which he should recognize as necessary for the protection of a third person . . . subject to liability to the third person for physical harm resulting from his failure to exercise reasonable care to protect his undertaking"). Just as the completion and acceptance doctrine is an antiquated vestige

of the "citadel of privity,"² the Court has rejected the notion that contract duties and tort duties occupy separate and disparate realms.

HDR/Turner's tort duty to disclose to WSP the risks associated with its work necessarily required the jury to assess HDR/Turner's contractual obligations in performing its work, including its failure to provide WSP the critical performance, safety and warranty information in the building O&M Manual that would have put the WSP and its employees on notice of the hazards associated with the security ceiling. By telling the jury that it could "not consider whether the contract was breached in considering whether the defendants were negligent," and that it could consider the contract "on the issue of causation,"³ the court told the jury that it could not look at the most important, if not *only* point of reference,

² See Berg v. General Motors Corp., 87 Wn.2d 584, 589, 555 P.2d 818 (1976); Bond, Rebuilding the Citadel of Privity, 30 Gonz. L. Rev. 221 (1995). The term originates in Justice Cardozo's 1931 decision holding an accountant liable to a non-customer reasonably relying on the accountant's certified financial statements. Ultramares Corp. v. Touche, 255 N.Y. 170, 181, 174 N.E. 441 (1931). See also W. Prosser, The Assault Upon the Citadel, 69 Yale L.J. 1099 (1960).

³ The Court of Appeals concluded that "no authority" supported reading the word "only" into the instruction's limitation of the use of contractual provisions in deciding causation. (Op. 13) But any reasonable person instructed that they may not consider a breach of contract to find negligence, but could consider that evidence on the issue of causation, would reasonably conclude that the breach of contract was relevant only on the issue of causation, and not to any other element of Donnelly's negligence claim.

to determine whether the defendants breached the tort duty of reasonable care in performing their work.

This Court has long held that the existence of a contract between parties is not a bar to, and in fact may be relevant in establishing, a tort duty of care. Thus not only may tort remedies flow "independently of the terms of the contract," *Eastwood v. Horse Harbor Foundation, Inc.,* 170 Wn.2d 380, 389, ¶ 15, 241 P.3d 1256 (2010), but contractual terms may be the basis for establishing the defendant's standard of reasonable care and subsequent breach. *Kelley v. Howard S. Wright Construction Co.,* 90 Wn.2d 323, 334, 582 P.2d 500 (1978) ("an affirmative duty assumed by contract may create a liability to persons not party to the contract, where failure to properly perform the duty results in injury to them"). *See Donatelli v. D.R. Strong Consulting Engineers, Inc.,* 179 Wn.2d 84, 92, ¶ 15, 312 P.3d 620 (2013) ("To determine whether a duty arises *independently* of the contract, we must first know what duties have been assumed by the parties *within* the contract.") (emphasis in original).

Just as statutes, regulations or "[i]Internal directives, department policies, and the like may provide evidence of the standard of care and therefore be evidence of negligence," Joyce v. Dept. of Corrections, 155 Wn.2d 306, 324, ¶ 45, 119 P.3d 825 (2005);

12

RCW 5.40.030 (violation of statutory duty may be evidence of negligence), a standard of care may be defined by the terms of a contract. *See Caulfield v. Kitsap County*, 108 Wn. App. 242, 257, 29 P.3d 738 (2001) (in a tort claim by a disabled third party patient against a county for caseworker negligence, the County's contract with the State provides "evidence of the reasonable standard of care for caseworkers managing COPES in-home care placements").4

The defendants in this case affirmatively accepted the standard of care to which they should be held; HDR/Turner was paid by WSP for its promise to provide the information that would have prevented Donnelly's injury. This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals' refusal to allow the jury to consider a defendant's breach of its contract in a construction case conflicts with this Court's decisions and presents an issue that will arise again

⁴ Other states similarly allow the jury's consideration of contract terms as evidence of what a reasonable contractor would do under the same or similar circumstances. Larson v. Heintz Construction Co., 219 Or. 25, 52-54, 345 P.2d 835 (1959) ("it is fair to let the contract enter into the jury's consideration of what was reasonable under the circumstances"); Dornack v. Barton Construction Co., 272 Minn. 307, 318, 137 N.W.2d 536 (1965) ("the provisions in that contract are proper for jury consideration in determining whether the construction company complied with its general duty of due care"); Wells v. Tanner Bros. Contracting Co., 103 Ariz. 217, 222, 439 P.2d 489 (1968) ("one of the circumstances which the jury might have considered was the existence and contents of [the construction company's] contract with the State").

and again in tort litigation, particularly in cases arising in the construction setting. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

3. The Court of Appeals erred not only in holding that the instruction was a correct statement of the law, but also in concluding that the trial court's incorrect instruction did not prejudice the plaintiff.

Respondents may argue that this Court should not accept review because the Court of Appeals concluded that the plaintiff was allowed to argue his theory of the case. (Op. 13) The Court of Appeals' reasoning incorrectly presumes Instruction No. 14 accurately states the law, however; a jury instruction that contains an incorrect statement of the law is presumed to be prejudicial, and therefore reversible error. *Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys.*, *Inc.*, 174 Wn.2d 851, 860, ¶ 10, 281 P.3d 289 (2012). The Court of Appeals' determination that despite the trial court's erroneous instruction, Donnelly was allowed to argue his theory of the case, is not only inconsistent with its approval of Instruction No. 14, but erroneous.

None of the other instructions given by the trial court and relied upon by the Court of Appeals alleviated the prejudice in directing the jury that it could not consider the central theory of Donnelly's case: that the defendants were negligent based on their breach of the contractual obligation to provide WSP notice in the O&M Manual that walking on the ceiling was unsafe and would "void all warranties." The Court of Appeals relies upon "summary of claims" instruction No. 7 (Op. 16) that neither established the evidence nor the elements of plaintiff's negligence claim but, as the jury was told, was "merely a summary of the claims of the parties . . . outlined solely to aid you in understanding the issues." (CP 8897) The other cited instructions defined negligence as the "failure to exercise ordinary care" (CP 8903), and told the jury that "a defendant is liable for negligen[ce] . . . if it was reasonably foreseeable that a third person would be injured as result of that negligence." (CP 8901)

None of these instructions allowed the jury to do what it was explicitly told it could not do in Instruction No. 14 – consider the defendants' breach of the design/build contract with WSP in deciding the issue of negligence. Further, the Court of Appeals' reliance on Donnelly's discussion of the contract in closing argument to support its conclusion that there was no prejudice (Op. 14-16) fails to acknowledge that counsel's argument is just that – argument. It is not the law. And the jury was emphatically told that it must base its verdict on the law as set forth in the court's instructions, rather than on the argument of counsel. (CP 8890)

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