# RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Nov 14, 2016, 10:53 am

## RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

#### NO. 93722-2

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JENNIFER B. DONNELLY, as Guardian for MARSHALL S. DONNELLY; JENNIFER B. DONNELLY; and KEITH KESSLER, as Guardian ad Litem for LINLEY GRACE DONNELLY, a minor child,

#### Petitioners,

v

HDR ARCHITECTURE, INC., TURNER CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, a foreign corporation, NOISE CONTROL OF WASHINGTON, INC., a Washington corporation; "JANE and JOHN DOES, 1 – 20",

## Respondents.

#### RESPONDENTS' JOINT ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

# V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Donnellys seek review of the Court of Appeals' decision under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4). Because neither the Court of Appeals' discussion of *Davis v. Baugh Industrial Contractors, Inc.*, 159 Wn.2d 413, 150 P.3d 545 (2007), nor its conclusion that there was no error in instructing the jury that it "may not consider whether the contract was breached in considering whether the defendants were negligent," is in conflict with any decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals, or raises any issue of substantial interest that should be determined by this Court, the Donnellys' petition for review should be denied.

Works," Richard Howerton, admittedly performed only a cursory review and did not review the manuals in their entirety. 9/23 RP 1018-19, 1022-23. Although claiming that, if it had been included, he would have read the May 2006 letter and passed along the "void the warranty" language, 9/23 RP 1024-25, and would always notice information that could raise a safety concern or affect warranties, 9/23 RP 1022-24; 9/30 RP 1708-09, 1715, his claims were belied by other parts of the Manuals he was shown while testifying that contained specific safety admonitions that he admittedly had not noticed or brought to anyone's attention. 9/30 RP 1707, 1718-19, 1721. He also admitted that he was not aware of prison staff sometimes walking on older ceilings in other parts of the prison and thus would not have known this was even a potential safety issue when he made his cursory review of the O&M Manuals. 9/30 RP 1714-15.

A. The Court of Appeals' Discussion of Davis Does Not Conflict with Any Decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals and Does Not Raise an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, *Op. at 7*, the Donnellys relied heavily on *Davis* for their negligence theory that Turner was obligated to include a copy of the May 2006 letter in the manuals because the RFP specifications required that any information affecting a product warranty be included in the O&M Manuals,. The Court of Appeals correctly observed that *Davis* rejected the completion and acceptance doctrine and held that "a builder or construction contractor is liable for injury or damage to a third person as a result of negligent work, even after completion and acceptance of that work, when it was reasonably foreseeable [that] a third person would be injured due to that negligence." *Op. at 8* (quoting *Davis*, 159 Wn.2d at 417).

The Donnellys argued that the negligent "work" referred to in Davis was not limited to negligence in the design and physical construction of improvements to real property, but included the "work' to be performed [as] spelled out in the Contract documents," which included "providing information to the WSP about the building in the [O&M manuals]," including copies of warranties and lists of circumstances and conditions that could affect the validity of those warnings. Op. at 8 (quoting App. Br. at 27-28). So, the Court of Appeals looked to Davis's

rationale for abandoning the completion and acceptance doctrine, and correctly recognized that:

The Davis court's focus was on negligent work relating to latent construction defects and hazards that property owners would not be able to identify. The decision is restricted to the physical limitations on a landowner's ability to meaningfully inspect modern-day constructed facilities.

Op. at 9. In reaching that conclusion, the Court of Appeals quoted directly from Davis, where this Court explained:

Today ... [w]iring, plumbing, and other mechanical components are increasingly concealed in conduits or buried under the earth. In short, construction has become highly scientific and complex. Landowners increasingly hire contractors for their expertise and a nonexpert landowner is often incapable of recognizing substandard performance.

Op. at 9 (quoting Davis, 159 Wn. 2d at 419, with emphasis added). The Court of Appeals further quoted from Davis, where this Court reasoned: that "[b]y insulating contractors from liability, the completion and acceptance doctrine increases the public's exposure to injuries caused by negligent design and construction of improvements to real property and undermines the deterrent effect of tort law." Op. at 9 (quoting Davis, 159 Wn.2d 419-20, with emphasis added). Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, Op. at 9, that:

Contrary to Donnelly's assertions, the *Davis* court's reference to "work" was not so expansive as to include each and every aspect of a contractor's duties under its contract with an owner. An alleged failure to fulfill an administrative contractual obligation to include warranty

information in an O&M Manual is not negligent work under Davis as though akin to a latent physical defect.

Indeed, Davis says nothing about a contractor's duties under its contract with an owner. Davis nowhere states that breach of an administrative, aesthetic, environmental, scheduling, or politically expedient provision in a construction contract gives rise to tort liability. Nothing in Davis refers to allegedly negligent work other than that related to design and physical construction, use of physical materials, and modern realities that an owner may not be able to detect latent defects and hazards resulting from negligent design and construction.

What the Court of Appeals said about Davis came from Davis itself. Contrary to the Donnellys' assertions, Pet. at 6, 8, 9, nothing the Court of Appeals said about Davis narrows or is in conflict with Davis or conflicts with Jackson v. City of Seattle, 158 Wn. App. 647, 244 P.3d 425 (2010), a case involving a latent hazard created by the manner in which a contractor had installed a water line on a steep slope. As with Davis, nothing in Jackson talks about a contractor's alleged failure to fulfill an administrative contractual obligation that had nothing to do with the design and physical construction of the project.

Ultimately, the Donnellys' assertion of a conflict rests on erroneous claims that the Court of Appeals has somehow limited "a contractor's tort liability to 'latent physical defects,'" Pet. at 8, n.1, or limited "the liability of contractors for their negligence in failing to disclose an unsafe condition," Pet at 9. But that is not what the Court of Appeals did. Nowhere in its decision does the Court of Appeals state that a contractor's tort liability is limited to "latent physical defects" or that a contractor cannot be liable for negligence in failing to disclose an unsafe condition.

Indeed, in holding that "Instruction 14 is consistent with *Davis* and therefore, is not a misstatement of the law," *Op. at 13*, the Court of Appeals recognized that the jury was instructed (1) in accordance with *Davis* that: "[a] defendant is liable for negligent acts or failures to act in its work on th[e] Project at the WSP if it was reasonably foreseeable that a third person would be injured as a result of that negligence" and that "[t]he acceptance of the completed Project by the State of Washington is not a defense," *Op. at 12 (quoting CP 8901)*; and (2) that the Donnellys were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Citing RP 455, which does not so state, the Donnellys erroneously claim, Pet. at 2, that the WSP was unaware that the metal security ceiling "was not designed to hold the weight of a person and was a latent hazard." They further erroneously claim, Pet. at 7-8, that "WSP, did not and could not know that it was unsafe to allow its employees to walk on the heavy-duty, metal 'Lockdown' security ceilings ..." and that "WSP had no other means of becoming aware of the latent hazard created by this security ceiling without being informed by the general contractor who selected the product, defendant HDR/Turner." First, the selection and installation of the security ceiling, which was done in accordance with WSP specifications, did not create a latent hazard. Second, WSP knew that its specifications for the project did not call for walkable ceilings. If the WSP wanted or intended the ceilings to be walkable, it could have so specified in the RFP. Third, WSP was not even aware that its employees had been walking on ceilings and did not give them any approval to do so. Fourth, WSP had in place safety program requirements that Mr. Donnelly, Mr. Griffith, and their supervisor ignored, but that, if followed, would have resulted in a JSA evaluation before Mr. Donnelly attempted to climb onto and traverse the ceiling without having assessed the safety of doing so.

claiming that defendants were negligent "[f]or failing to include the letter of May 23, 2006, or a list of circumstances and conditions that would affect the validity of the warranties, in the Operation and Maintenance Manual," Op. at 11-12 (quoting CP 8897). Thus, when the Court of Appeals held that "Instruction No. 14 is consistent with Davis and therefore, is not a misstatement of the law," it applied the clear and unambiguous language of Davis rejecting the completion and acceptance doctrine and adopting a negligence standard of liability.

The Court of Appeals' discussion of Davis is not in conflict with Davis or Jackson. Nothing in the Court of Appeals' decision changes what this Court has already held in Davis — that the completion and acceptance doctrine is no longer the law in Washington and that a negligence standard of liability applies. Nor does the Court of Appeals discussion of Davis raise an issue of substantial public interest. Ultimately, the Court of Appeals' discussion of Davis in its unpublished decision is not even integral to its holding — that Instruction 14 did not misstate the law and allowed the Donnellys to fully argue their theory of negligence. The trial court did not limit the jury's consideration of the alleged negligence to design or construction of physical features. Nor did the Court of Appeals hold that the trial court should have so limited the Donnellys' negligence claim. Contrary to the Donnellys' assertion, Pet. at

10, the Court of Appeals' decision does not in any way suggest that tort law does not "provide a remedy" in negligence "to those injured by foreseeable risks arising from the construction of real property."

B. The Court of Appeals' Affirmance of Instruction 14 Also Does Not Conflict with Any Washington Appellate Decision and Does Not Raise Any Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

The Donnellys assert, *Pet. at 13-14*, that the Court of Appeals' affirmance of Instruction 14, somehow conflicts with this Court's decisions indicating that a jury may consider contract terms as evidence of what a reasonably prudent contractor would do and "presents an issue that will arise again and again ...." But, none of the cases the Donnellys cited below, as the Court of Appeals correctly observed, stand for the proposition the Donnellys tried to advance that:

[I]n a negligence case grounded in contract provisions, one is entitled to argue breach of contract; not merely that the contract provisions apply and the defendant failed to comply with the provisions, but that the breach of contract was a violation of the applicable negligence standard of ordinary care causing foreseeable injury to a third party.

Op. at 11 (citing App. Reply Br. at 1, 14-17). Nor do any of the cases cited in the Donnellys' Petition (whether of this Court, the Court of Appeals, or other jurisdictions) stand for such a proposition.<sup>10</sup>

The Donnellys cite this Court's decisions in Kelley v. Howard S. Wright Constr. Co.,
 Wn.2d 323, 334, 582 P.2d 500 (1978), Donatelli v. D.R. Strong Consulting Engineers,
 Inc., 179 Wn.2d 84, 92, 312 P.3d 620 (2013), Pet at 12, the Court of Appeals decision in
 Caulfield v. Kitsap County, 108 Wn. App. 242, 257, 29 P.3d 738 (2001), Pet. at 13, and a

Neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals has suggested that contract provisions are not admissible in a negligence case as evidence of the applicable standard of care. What both courts have indicated, and quite correctly so, is that the mere fact that a contract provision was supposedly breached does not establish negligence. Personal injury claims must be decided under tort standards, not by deciding breach of contract issues. Eastwood v. Horse Harbor Foundation, Inc., 170 Wn.2d 380, 402, 241 P.3d 1256 (2010) ("An injury is remediable in tort if it traces back to the breach of a tort duty arising independently of the terms of the contract"). Personal injury is traditionally compensable in tort, not breach of contract, Alejandre v. Bull, 159 Wn.2d 674, 682, 153 P.3d 864 (2007), and tort liability must arise from a duty independent of contract, American Nursery Prods., Inc. v. Indian Wells Orchards, 115 Wn.2d 217, 230, 797 P.2d 477 (1990). Indeed, notwithstanding the Donnellys' current arguments, the Donnellys' counsel in the trial court acknowledged that "just because there is violation of contract ... language does not prove negligence," and agreed that he could not argue to the jury that there was a breach of contract and "therefore, that is negligence." RP 2852-53

The Donnellys assert, *Pet at 11-12*, that, by giving Instruction 14, the trial court "told the jury that it could not look at the most important, if

number of decisions from other jurisdictions, *Pet. at 13 n.4*, for the proposition that a jury may consider contract terms as evidence of what a reasonable contractor would do.

not *only* point of reference, to determine whether the defendants breached the tort duty of reasonable care in performing their work." But the trial court did no such thing. In fact, as the Court of Appeals correctly notes, *Op. at 13* (citing 10/8 RP 2803, 2917), the trial court told the Donnellys' counsel he could "certainly argue to the jury ... that the May 23<sup>rd</sup> letter ought to have been included," and that he could "put the [contract] standards up there and talk about this is what they were supposed to do under the contract, but [couldn't] argue that that – the breach provides a basis for determining liability." In closing, the Donnellys' counsel did exactly what the trial court told him he could do – he put the contract standards up and argued that that was what defendants were supposed to do. *See Op at 14-16* (citing 10/9 RP 2971, 2974-75, 2985, 2995-96, 3028, 3117-18).

As the Court of Appeals correctly observed, *Op. at 11-13*, the jury instructions, read as a whole, correctly stated the law and allowed the Donnellys to argue their theory of the case. Instruction No. 7, CP 8897, unequivocally explained their claim that the defendants were negligent "[f]or failing to include the letter of May 23, 2006, or a list of circumstances and conditions that would affect the validity of the warranties, in the Operation and Maintenance Manual." Instruction No. 10, CP 8901, borrowing language from *Davis*, told the jury that:

A defendant is liable for negligent acts or failures to act in its work on the Project at the WSP if it was reasonably foreseeable that a third person would be injured as a result of that negligence.

\* \* \*

The acceptance of the completed Project by the State of Washington is not a defense.

Instruction No. 12, CP 8903, defined "negligence" consistent with WPI 10.01. And, as the Court of Appeals correctly observed, *Op. at 16*:

Nothing in the instructions as a whole told the jury they could not consider the contract language as a factor in determining negligence. Indeed, Instruction 1 told the jury "In order to decide whether any party's claim has been proved, you must consider all of the evidence I've admitted that relates to that claim."

Because the Court of Appeals' affirmance of Instruction 14 does not conflict with any Washington appellate decision or raise any issue of substantial public interest, the Petition for Review should be denied.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

For all these reasons, the Petition for Review should be denied.